IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-02045

JUL 0 8 2009
OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

REBEKAH ANGLE

APPELLANT-PLAINTIFF

VS.

KOPPERS, INC. ET AL

APPELLEES-DEFENDANTS

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF GRENADA COUNTY HONORABLE JOSEPH H. LOPER, JR., CIRCUIT JUDGE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT REBEKAH ANGLE

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Elizabeth Unger Carlyle (MSB No. 102491) The Colom Law Firm P.O. Box 866 Columbus, MS 39703 (662) 327-0903

Hunter W. Lundy, Esq. Lundy, Lundy, Soileau & South, LLP Post Office Box 3010 Lake Charles, LA 70602-3010

Andre F. Ducote, Esq. Lundy, Lundy, Soileau & South, LLP 713 South Pear Orchard Road, Suite 203 Ridgeland, MS 39157

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Did the limitation period provided in Miss. Code Ann. §§15-1-35 and 15-1-49 run during the period between the date of the plaintiff's injury and the date she discovered that the injury was caused by the wrongful acts of the defendants?
- 2. Does 42 U.S.C. §9658² pre-empt Mississippi's statutes of limitation by inserting into those statutes a "discovery rule" when the alleged injury is caused, in whole or in part, by exposure to hazardous substances, pollutants and contaminants released into the environment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Rebekah Angle, the plaintiff-appellant, has suffered numerous physical injuries from her long-term exposure (by inhalation, skin contact, and ingestion) to the toxic chemicals used at the wood treatment plant operated by defendants-appellees. Her problems began with headaches.in 1984. In 1994, she underwent a dilation and curettage (D&C) operation necessitated by exposure-related symptoms. This was followed, in 1994, by a hysterectomy. She then developed ovarian cysts in 1999, and had her ovaries removed in 2000. That year, she also developed skin rashes. In 2001, she underwent a lumpectomy in her breast, resulting in a diagnosis of infiltrating ductal carcinoma.

¹ Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980.

² Miss. Code Ann. §§15-1-35 and 15-1-49 and 42 U.S.C. §9658 are included in the Addendum to this brief.

Her exposure to toxic chemicals was extensive. In 1980, treated wood from the facility was brought to her home, exposing her both to contact with the wood and fumes. From 1972-1990, Ms. Angle worked at an elementary school, Tie Plant Elementary, that is located in close proximity to the plant, and was exposed to airborne toxins including fumes and dust. She walked through the facility during 1990-1991, and was thus exposed to dust and other debris on the ground. In 1994, she moved to a home at 2627 Jackson Avenue near the plant, and lived there until 2005. She then moved to 85 Mimosa Drive. She was exposed to fumes and dust from the plant at both of these homes.

In 2006, after Ms. Angle learned that her medical problems were the result of exposure to the toxic chemicals, she filed suit. R. 2-39. In her complaint, she alleged that the defendants³ were the owners and operators of a wood treatment facility. The plant is situated on approximately 171 acres and is located approximately five miles southeast of Grenada, Mississippi, between State highway 51 and Bogue Creek. West and northeast of the plant is a residential community known as Tie Plant.

The facility pressure treats railroad ties, poles and lumber with creosote and pentachlorophenol. The facility operates five retorts. Two are used to treat wood with pentachlorophenol and two with creosote. Dioxin is a constituent of pentachlorophenol and polyclyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH's) are a constituent of creosote. The facility was built in 1904 by Ayer and Lord Tie Company for the treatment of railroad crossties for Illinois Central Gulf Railroad Company, and has operated ever since.

As a result of her proximity to the wood treatment facility, Ms. Angle's complaint and supporting information allege that she was exposed to:

The wood treatment facility has changed hands several times. The sequence of ownership is alleged in the complaint, but is not relevant to this appeal and will not be repeated here. See R. [2-39.]

- a) Pentachlorophenol as well as its constituent and derivative chemicals and substances including, but not limited to, dioxins.
- b) Creosote as well as its constituent and derivative chemicals and substances including, but not limited to, polyclyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PARs).
 - c) Heavy metals including, but not limited to arsenic, zinc and chromium.
- d) Unknown chemicals or substances (including their constituents or derivative forms) which were disposed of at the Grenada wood treatment facility.⁴

Toxic chemicals were released by the plant in the form of sediment, airborne dust and other pollutants, and pollution of the surface water and groundwater in the area near the plant where Ms. Angle lived and worked. The defendants' attempts to control the release of these pollutants were either nonexistent or grossly inadequate.

As a result of her injuries, Ms. Angle's complaint claimed damages for the following tortious acts: negligence, gross negligence, negligence per se, intentional tort, conspiracy, private conspiracy (42 U.S.C. §1985(3), strict liability, trespass, nuisance, and failure to warn.

The defendants responded with a motion for summary judgment, alleging that the complaint was barred by Mississippi's one (Ms. Stat. Ann. §15-1-35) and three year (Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-49) statutes of limitations because all of her illnesses were diagnosed no later than 2001, and suit was not filed until 2006. R. 127-180. The defendants contend that under these statutes, the limitation period began to run when Ms. Angle became aware of her injury, whether or not she was aware at that time that the injury was caused by the defendants wrongful conduct. No evidence was presented by the defendants of the date that Ms. Angle learned of the connection between her injuries and the defendants' toxic chemicals.

⁴ Ms. Angle continues to assert that there may be additional evidence regarding her modes of exposure and the chemicals to which she was exposed which will be developed during discovery upon remand.

The plaintiff responded that under Mississippi law, the limitation period was tolled until Ms. Angle discovered the cause of her injuries. In the alternative, she alleged that the Mississippi statute of limitations was pre-empted by 42 U.S.C. §9658. That statute governs personal injuries and property damage caused or contributed by exposure to hazardous substances, pollutants and contaminants released into the environment from a facility like the Defendants' and inserts a discovery rule into all state statutes of limitations for damages arising from the exposure

The circuit court rejected these arguments and granted summary judgment on the ground that the suit was barred by the statute of limitations. R. 210-215. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. This Court should construe Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-49(2) and Miss Code Ann. §15-1-35, to hold that the limitation period does not commence, for injuries resulting from environmental contaminants, until the plaintiff knows or reasonably should know that his injuries were caused by the defendant. The mere fact of injury should not start the running of the statute. To hold otherwise would contravene the policy that a plaintiff should not be required to file suit until he has sufficient facts to state a cause of action.

On motion for summary judgment, "the moving party has the burden of demonstrating that no genuine issue of material facts exists, and the non-moving party must be given the benefit of the doubt concerning the existence of a material fact." Howard v. City of Bloxi, 943 So. 2d 751, 754 ¶4 (Miss. App. 2006), quoting City of Jackson v. Sutton, 797 So. 2d 977, 979 ¶7 (Miss. 2001). Because the defendants did not present summary judgment proof that Ms. Angle knew or should have known of the cause of her injury before the limitation period, they have not met their burden on summary judgment.

II. In the alternative, if Mississippi law requires the filing of suit before the cause of the injury is discovered, it is pre-empted by 42 U.S.C. §9658(a)(1) (CERCLA), which provides for a "discovery rule" for all claims for "personal injury, or property damages" arising out of exposure to "hazardous substance(s) ... pollutant(s) or contaminant(s), released into the environment ...

"This is clearly such a case, and therefore the statute of limitations did not run until "the date the plaintiff knew (or reasonably should have known) that the personal injury or property damages were caused or contributed to by the hazardous substance or pollutant or contaminant concerned." Id. Again, since the defendants did not present summary judgment proof as to Ms.

Angle's knowledge, the grant of summary judgment must be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I. Did the limitation period provided in Miss. Code Ann. §§15-1-35 and 15-1-49 run during the period between the date of the plaintiff's injury and the date she discovered that the injury was caused by the wrongful acts of the defendants?

Ms. Angle experienced health problems beginning in 1984. They gradually became more serious until she learned, in 2001, that she had breast cancer. The defendants seek to avoid liability by claiming that she filed suit too late under Miss. Code Ann. §§15-1-49(2) and 15-1-35.

A principled reading of these statutes and settled Mississippi law do not permit the limitations clock to begin to tick on a latent injury claim until the plaintiff knows or reasonably should know of facts that would enable her to file suit. This includes knowledge of the fact of loss, and, where practicably necessary to enable her to sue, the cause of the harm the plaintiff claims. This principle applies whether or not the statute of limitations applicable to the action contains an explicit "discovery rule."

In Smith v. Sneed, 638 So.2d 1252 (Miss. 1994), this Court considered the commencement of the limitation period in a legal malpractice action. The court held that the correct statute of limitations was Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-49, the same statute at issue here. That statute contains no explicit statement that the limitation period commences when the plaintiff discovers that the injury was caused by the defendant. However, the court construed the statute to require such a holding in a legal malpractice case. The plaintiff there had entered a plea of a guilty on the advice of his attorney, not knowing that the autopsy report on the alleged victim of his offense would show that the victim died of natural causes. He alleged that he had asked his attorney about the autopsy report but that he had not received it. Mr. Smith filed suit after obtaining the report some years later.

Holding that the statute of limitations did not commence until Mr. Smith learned of the autopsy report, the Court noted that subsequent to the enactment of Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-49, the legislature had enacted Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-36, which provided that in a medical malpractice case, the limitation period did not begin until the plaintiff knew or reasonably should have known of his caused of action. The Court then reasoned, "It would be preposterous to think that the legislature would think that a cause of action for legal malpractice would accrue when the injured party could not know that he had a claim, but a claim for medical malpractice would accrue only when the injured party knew of his claim." Smith v. Sneed, 638 So.2d 1252, 1256 (Miss. 1994). The Court then cited its decision in Owens-Illinois, Inc. v. Edwards, 573 So.2d 704 (Miss. 1990).

In Edwards, the Court considered whether the statute of limitations for an injury caused by exposure to chemicals commenced at the time of the last exposure to the chemicals. The Court declined to so find, holding,

Illogical results, such as the finding that plaintiffs are barred from seeking relief from injuries which are undiscoverable until the pertinent time for seeking such relief has passed, would not only undermine the purposes for which statutes of limitations exist, but would also engender disrespect for our civil justice system."

Edwards, 573 So.2d at 708-709, cited in Smith v. Sneed, 638 So.2d 1252, 1257 (Miss. 1994). The Smith v. Sneed court further cited the decision in Staheli v. Smith. 548 So.2d 1299 (Miss.1989), where it had been held that the limitations period for defamation did not begin until the plaintiff discovered the defamatory material, since he could not have filed suit until he knew that he had been defamed. Thus, the court rejected the lower court holding that the statute commenced when the defamatory material was placed in Mr. Staheli's tenure file. The Smith v. Sneed court concluded, "In sum, we believe that any burden placed upon an attorney by application of the discovery rule is less onerous than the injustice of denying relief to unknowing victims." Smith v. Sneed, 638 So.2d 1252, 1258 (Miss. 1994).

This Court similarly grafted a "discovery rule" onto a limitation statute in *Donald v.*Amoco Production Co., 735 So.2d 161, 168 ¶18-19 (Miss. 1999). There, the plaintiff alleged injury as a result of radioactive waste which was not detected until some time after he sustained the injury he complained of. The Court held that:

Donald is a layman who realistically could not be expected to perceive the secret injury to the subject property until it was readily apparent as traceable radioactive waste by use of a survey meter.

Recognizing Donald's allegations as true and with this logic ir mind, it only seems equitable that the discovery exception should apply in the unique facts of the instant case.

While the court referred to the facts in *Donald* as "unique," the same factual issue occurs in Ms. Angle's case. Like Mr. Donald, she is a layperson, incapable of readily perceiving that her

injuries were the result of her long-term exposure to the toxic chemicals released by the defendants. The same result should apply here.

Thus, under Mississippi law, legal, actionable injury includes both knowledge of the loss, and the actionable activities giving rise to the loss:

There may be . . . cases where the patient is aware of his injury prior to the [expiration of the limitations period], but does not discover and could not have discovered with reasonable diligen the act or omission which caused the injury. In such cases, the action does not accrue until the latter discovery is made.



Smith v. Sanders, 485 So. 2d 1051, 1052-53 (Miss. 1986).

Other cases decided by this Court have also recognized the rule that the limitation period does not commence until the plaintiff learns that his injury was caused by the act or omission of the defendant. In *Punzo v. Jackson County*, 861 So. 2d 340, 346, ¶19 (Miss. 2003), the court held that the one-year statute of limitations did not commence until the plaintiff learned that the floods which damaged his home were caused by the county's negligent rebuilding of a bridge. Citing *Barnes v. Singing River Hospital Systems*, 733 So. 2d 199, 205-06, ¶20 (Miss. 1999), the court held that a contrary construction was "not consistent with this Court's prior holdings as in *Barnes*, 733 So.2d 199, and *Sweeney v. Preston*, 642 So.2d 332 (Miss. 1994)," *Punzo*, 851 So.2d at 344, ¶16.

In PPG Architectural Finishes, Inc. v. Lowery, 909 So. 2d 47, 50-52, ¶¶ 9-18 (Miss. 2005), this Court acknowledged that the plaintiff did not have to file suit until she discovered that her injuries were caused by exposure to paint fumes. However, in that case the court held that because she was aware of that fact at the time of the injury, and the statute of limitations began to run at that time. See also, Pickens v. Donaldson, 748 So. 2d 684, 690, ¶26 (Miss. 1999).

This Court's approach to limitations law focuses upon not only a principled reading of text, but also the purpose imbedded in the text, at times going beyond "the letter of the law," to give the statute "the most coherent and principled reading available," City of Jackson v. Williamson, 740 So. 2d 818, 821, ¶12 (Miss. 1999); Stuart's, Inc. v. Brown, 543 So. 2d 649, 651 (Miss. 1989), "given the statutory scheme and the other valid rules in the field." Estate of Davis, 706 So. 2d 244, 247, ¶12 (Miss. 1998); MIGA v Vaughn, 529 So. 2d 540, 542 (Miss. 1988).

Statutes of limitations are based on the principle that litigants should be diligent in prosecuting their claims against others. But that policy must give way when the cause of the injury cannot be discovered until after the limitation period, dated from the injury, has run. When it enacted CERCLA, Congress recognized that injuries from environmental pollution require a "discovery rule" to start the running of the statute of limitations. This is because, as a result of modern medicine and scientific methods, we now know that diseases may be latent and not known for long periods of time.



A further reason why a discovery rule is appropriate in this area is that pollution control statutes are largely dependent upon self reporting. If an industry does not report the pollution, then no one would know the cause. And a layperson is unlikely to know that his injury stemmed from pollution without specific reporting. Therefore, this Court should recognize the insight of Congress and the Environmental Protection Agency and hold that the traditional rules regarding the triggering of the statute of limitations should not apply to environmental torts. It should be noted, however, that this rule applies only to those who, like Ms. Angle, are harmed by discharge of pollutants into the environment. Employees who are injured by workplace exposure would not be affected by this rule.

If Ms. Angle did not know, and reasonably could not have known, that the pollution of her environment with toxic chemicals had caused or contributed to her injuries at the time they occurred or for three years afterwards, then she could not possibly have sued these defendants during that time. The construction of Mississippi's statute of limitations as requiring suit within three years of injury thus operates, not to prevent *untimely* claims, but to prevent the assertion of Ms. Angle's claims at *any* time. While statutes of limitations protect a defendant's legitimate interest in avoiding stale claims, they must always be construed strictly to prevent injustice. The construction urged here would deny Ms. Angle her rights completely, and must be rejected by this Court. This result is both illogical and unjust.

The defendants presented no evidence supporting their motion for summary judgment showing when Ms. Angle discovered that her injuries were caused by environmental contamination by the defendants. On motion for summary judgment, "the moving party has the burden of demonstrating that no genuine issue of material facts exists, and the non-moving party must be given the benefit of the doubt concerning the existence of a material fact." Miss R. Civ. P. 56, Howard v. City of Biloxi, 943 So. 2d 751, 754 ¶4 (Miss. App. 2006), quoting City of Jackson v. Sutton, 797 So. 2d 977, 979 ¶7 (Miss. 2001). The burden is on the summary judgment movant to establish each element of his motion by competent evidence. Since no proof was presented by the defendants here that Ms. Angle was aware of the cause of her injuries before the limitations period, the defendants have not met their burden and reversal is required.

II. Does 42 U.S.C. §9658 preempt Mississippi's statutes of limitation by inserting into those statutes a "discovery rule" when the alleged injury is caused, in whole or in part, by exposure to hazardous substances, pollutants and contaminants released into the environment?

In Donald v. Amoco Production Co., 735 So.2d 161, 168 ¶20 (Miss. 1999), this Court declined to decide whether Mississippi limitations law is preempted by federal law in environmental pollution cases, since it applied the federal discovery rule in the case and therefore the issue was moot. Should the Court here find that Mississippi law requires that Ms. Angle file suit before she discovered that her injuries were caused by the defendants' pollution of her environment, then Mississippi law must yield to federal law.

Under 42 U.S.C. §9658⁵, state court actions for "personal injury, or property damages" arising out of exposure to "hazardous substance(s)... pollutant(s) or contaminant(s), released into the environment...." are governed by a "discovery rule" under which the statute of limitations does not begin to run until "the date the plaintiff knew (or reasonably should have known) that the personal injury or property damages were caused or contributed to by the hazardous substance or pollutant or contaminant concerned." *Id.* This provision was enacted (in 1986) in part to address the inadequacy of some state laws in dealing with the delayed discovery of toxic substance pollution. H.R. Conf. Rep. No. 99-962, 99th Cong., 2d Sess. 261 (1986) reprinted in 1986 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2835, 3276, 3354. In applying §9658, a court should bear in mind that CERCLA is a remedial statute that should be construed liberally in order to effectuate its goals. *U.S. v. Alcan Aluminum Corporation*, 964 F.2d 252 (3rd Cir. 1992).6

Ms. Angle clearly alleged that her injuries arose out of the discharge into the environment of numerous harmful chemicals. The allegations of her complaint make clear that she is not

⁵ The section is also cited as §309 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLA).

⁶ It should also be noted that the definition of "release" in 42 U.S.C. §9601(22) specifically excludes "any release which results in exposure to persons solely within a workplace."

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