IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-CA-02045

REBEKAH ANGLE

APPELLANT-PLAINTIFF

· VS.

KOPPERS INC., ET AL

APPELLEES-DEFENDANTS

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF GRENADA COUNTY HONORABLE JOSEPH H. LOPER, JR., CIRCUIT JUDGE

BRIEF OF APPELLEES KOPPERS INC., BEAZER EAST, INC. AND THREE RIVERS MANAGEMENT, INC.

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Christopher A. Shapley, MSB No Robert L. Gibbs, MSB No William Trey Jones III, MSB No.

Joseph Anthony Sclafani, MSB No.

Brunini, Grantham, Grower, & Hewes, PLLC 1400 Trustmark Building 248 East Capitol Street (39201) Jackson, MS 39205-0119 (601) 948-3101

Jay Gore, III, MSB No.
Gore, Kilpatrick, Purdie, Metz &
Adcock
135 First Street

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court correctly granted Defendants' motion for summary judgment based upon the three-year statute of limitations set forth in Miss. Code

Ann. § 15-1-49. That Section provides that "[a]ll actions for which no period of limitation is prescribed shall be commenced within three (3) years next after the cause of such action accrued, and not after." Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49(1). The statute recognizes a discovery rule for latent injuries, which provides that a "cause of action [for latent injury or disease] does not accrue until the plaintiff has discovered, or by reasonable diligence should have discovered, the injury." Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49(2) (emphasis added). The Circuit Court correctly held that a cause of action accrues under Section 15-1-49(2) when the plaintiff gains knowledge of her injuries or diseases. Thus, all of Plaintiff's claims are barred within three years of knowledge of injury.

The Circuit Court correctly interpreted the plain language of Section 15-1-49(2), which refers only to discovery of the injury, not to discovery of the cause of the injury. That ruling comports with this Court's clear statement in *Owens-Illinois, Inc. v. Edwards,* 573 So. 2d 704, 709 (Miss. 1990), that knowledge of a "cause" of an illness is *not an applicable factor* in determining when the statute of limitations begins to run under Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49. The ruling is also in line with the Fifth Circuit's recent decision in *Barnes*, which holds that "[u]nder § 15-1-49, a cause of action accrues when the plaintiff has knowledge of the injury, not knowledge of the injury and its cause." 532 F.3d at 361. Since Plaintiff learned of all of her alleged illnesses no later than 2001, approximately five years before the filing of her Complaint, her claims are time-barred.

If the Plaintiff were to prevail in this appeal, claims that have been barred for years and even decades could be resurrected. Indeed, in this case, Plaintiff seeks to recover for, among other things, headaches that she allegedly suffered twenty-five years ago. (Appellee's Brief, p. 1.) Taken to its extreme, Plaintiff's insistence that the statute of limitations does not begin to run until a plaintiff has knowledge of the wrongful cause of his or her injury would allow a plaintiff to bring suit on behalf of her grandparents, or even great grandparents, decades after their passing, merely because they have been advised by a lawyer of the alleged "wrongful cause" of the death. Such a rule would undoubtedly lead to manipulation and fraud and is inconsistent with the fundamental purpose of a statute of limitations. The Mississippi legislature has determined that three years is an adequate time to discover a relationship between an injury and its cause, and that suit beyond that period should not be allowed. This Court should reject Plaintiff's invitation to graft a knowledge-of-causation requirement onto Section 15-1-49 where none exists.

The Circuit Court was also correct in determining that the CERCLA statute of limitations, found in 42 U.S.C. §9658(a)(1), could not save Plaintiff's time-barred claims. Neither Plaintiff's response to Defendants' summary judgment motion, nor her appellate brief, demonstrates – either factually or legally – why CERCLA should apply to the facts at hand. Plaintiff fails to prove how CERCLA, and its overarching focus on "abandoned" or "inactive" sites, governs claims arising from the operations of an active wood treating facility subject to Resource, Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA"), Clean Air and Clean Water Act permits. Further, Plaintiff fails to prove how she, who incurred no clean-up costs, has standing to avail herself of CERCLA and its tolling

provisions. Moreover, Plaintiff's burden of proof for availing oneself to CERCLA § 9658 remains unsatisfied. Plaintiff has not established that her claims arose from a "release" of "hazardous substances" into the "environment" so that defendants' "facility" falls within CERCLA. Finally, application of Section 9658 in this case would violate the Commerce Clause and Tenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. The Circuit Court's judgment was correct, and should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review.

The Court applies a *de novo* standard of review to questions relating to the statute of limitations. *Ellis v. Anderson Tully Co.*, 727 So.2d 716, 718 (Miss.1998). Furthermore, "[t]his Court reviews grants of summary judgment under the de novo standard." *Bullard v. Guardian Life Ins. Co. of Am.*, 941 So.2d 812, 814 (Miss. 2006).

II. The Circuit Court Correctly Found That All of Plaintiff's Claims Are Barred By the Three-Year Statute of Limitations Set Forth in Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49

Pursuant to the express terms of Section 15-1-49, prior decisions of this Court and principles of statutory construction, the Mississippi statute of limitations begins to run as soon as the plaintiff discovers the injury or disease. No Mississippi Supreme Court case has ever held that knowledge of the *wrongful cause* of the injury or disease is required in order to commence the running of the statute of limitations. Such a rule would allow long-expired claims to be resurrected, simply by a plaintiff's claim of a newfound awareness of the alleged "cause" of the injury. The plain language of the statute belies such an

interpretation, and this Court should reject Plaintiff's invitation to graft a causation element onto Section 15-1-49 where none exists. Because Plaintiff admittedly discovered her injuries more than three years prior to filing suit, her claims are time-barred and the Circuit Court's award of summary judgment in Defendants' favor was proper.²

- a. Under Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49(2), a cause of action accrues as soon as a plaintiff becomes aware of the injury.
 - i. Mississippi State and Federal courts and the Fifth Circuit have routinely held that a cause of action accrues when plaintiff becomes aware of the injury or disease, not the "wrongful cause" of the injury or disease.

Plaintiff's claims are barred by the three-year statute of limitations set forth in Section 15-1-49. That Section provides:

- (1) All actions for which no other period of limitation is prescribed shall be commenced within three (3) years next after the cause of such action accrued, and not after.
- (2) In actions for which no other period of limitation is prescribed and which involve latent injury or disease, the cause of action does not

² With no supporting citations or case law, Plaintiff asserts that certain of her claims are salvaged by the one-year statute of limitations for intentional torts set forth in Section 15-1-35. Defendants argued in the Circuit Court that Plaintiff's intentional tort claim was barred by that section. (R. 127-129, 177-178.) The Circuit Court found instead that Section 15-1-35 did not apply, since the intentional torts of which Plaintiff complained were not among those listed in that Section, and that Section 15-1-49 governed each of Plaintiff's claims. (R. 212-213.) Plaintiff has not disputed the Circuit Court's interpretation. Regardless, Mississippi law is clear that there is no discovery rule for intentional torts. See, e.g., Goleman v. Orgler, 771 So. 2d 374, 377 (Miss. App. 2000) ("IIIt has long been the law in Mississippi that a cause of action involving an intentional tort begins to run from the time the individual is injured and not its discovery..."). Thus, Plaintiff's intentional tort claim is barred either by the one-year statute of limitations in Section 15-1-35, or the three-year statute of limitations in Section 15-1-49, as a cause of action accrues under both statutes on the date the plaintiff discovers the injury, not the injury and its wrongful cause.

accrue until the plaintiff has discovered, or by reasonable diligence should have discovered, the injury.

Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49.

Consistent with the plain language of Section 15-1-49, Mississippi courts routinely have held that a cause of action accrues when the injury or disease is diagnosed. See, e.g., Owens-Illinois, Inc. v. Edwards, 573 So. 2d 704, 709 (Miss. 1990); Schiro v. American Tobacco Co., 611 So. 2d 962, 965 (Miss. 1992) (holding cause of action accrued when plaintiff learned of her cancer diagnosis); Pollard v. Sherwin-Williams Co., 955 So. 2d 764, 769 (Miss. 2007) ("This Court has determined that 'the cause of action accrues and the limitations period begins to run when the plaintiff can reasonably be held to have knowledge of the injury or disease."")(internal citations omitted). This Court has never held that Section 15-1-49(2) tolls a plaintiff's claims until the discovery of both the injury and its cause. In fact, this Court has expressly rejected such a proposition by stating that knowledge of a "cause" of an illness, or any "causative relationship" between the injury and an injurious act, are not applicable factors in determining when the statute of limitations begins to run under Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49. Edwards, 573 So. 2d at 709.

In *Edwards*, an employee filed suit for personal injuries allegedly caused by exposure to asbestos. *Id.* at 705. Addressing whether his claims were timebarred, the trial court held that a common law discovery rule tolled the statute of limitations until "plaintiff can reasonably be held to have knowledge of the fact that he or she has been injured, the cause of the injury, and the causative relationship between the injury and the injurious act or product." *Id.* at 706. On

appeal, this Court specifically rejected the trial court's reliance on knowledge of the cause or causative relationship in determining whether the action was timely filed:

The cause of action accrues and the limitations period begins to run when the plaintiff can reasonably be held to have knowledge of the injury or disease. Though the cause of the injury and the causative relationship between the injury and the injurious act or product may also be ascertainable on this date, these factors are not applicable under § 15-1-49(2)...

Id. at 709. Under Section 15-1-49, therefore, the three-year statute of limitations begins to run as soon as plaintiff becomes aware of the injury or disease.

The United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit squarely addressed this issue in its recent *Barnes* decision. In *Barnes*, the plaintiff filed suit against the same defendants as involved in this case, alleging that emissions from the Grenada Plant caused her mother's death from breast cancer. *Barnes*, 532 F.3d at 358-9. The District Court held that plaintiff's cause of action did not accrue until she knew of both her injury and its cause. *Id.* at 360. Relying on this Court's decision in *Edwards* and the plain language of Section 15-1-49, the Court of Appeals reversed and rendered judgment in defendants' favor, holding that "[u]nder § 15-1-49, a cause of action accrues when the plaintiff has knowledge of the injury, not knowledge of the injury and its cause." *Id.* at 361.

Consistent with *Edwards* and *Barnes*, this Court's recent decision in *Sutherland v. Estate of Ritter*, 959 So. 2d 1004 (Miss. 2007), further supports the Circuit Court's entry of summary judgment in Defendants' favor. In *Sutherland*, the Court addressed confusion in prior cases regarding whether a cause of action

accrues under Section 15-1-49 even though a plaintiff may not know that his alleged injury was caused by wrongful conduct. After recognizing that the express terms of Section 15-1-49 specifically concern whether the plaintiff has discovered "the injury", the Court confirmed that knowledge of potential causation is irrelevant outside the context of a medical malpractice action. *Id.* at 1008-9.

Given the differences in language used in the two statutes, the Sutherland Court pointedly emphasized that the discovery rule for medical malpractice cases is "different." Id. at 1008. As Section 15-1-49 focuses on the discovery of the injury, and not the discovery of the "act, omission or neglect" that caused the injury, it is plain that the statute of limitations in Section 15-1-49 begins to run when the plaintiff learns of the injury, and not the "wrongful cause" of the injury. See State Indus. Prods. Corp. v. Beta Tech., Inc., No. 08-60620, 2009 WL 1930038, at *2 (5th Cir. July 7, 2009) ("Importantly, under § 15-1-49 (2), the cause of action accrues once a party discovers its injury - regardless of whether the party has also discovered the cause of the injury."); Wells v. Radiator Specialty Co., 413 F. Supp. 2d 778, 779 (S.D. Miss. 2006) (expressly rejecting argument that plaintiff's claims were tolled until plaintiff discovered causal relationship between illness and exposure to benzene, and stating that "[t]he legislature has determined that three years is an adequate time to discover a relationship between an injury and its cause and that suit beyond that period should not be allowed. This is peculiarly a legislative function upon which courts should not intrude.") (emphasis added); Fowler v. First Chem. Corp., No.

2:05cv16-KS-MTP, 2006 WL 2527317 (S.D. Miss. Aug. 30, 2006) (same analysis and conclusion).³

ii. Principles of statutory construction directly support Defendants' contention that the statute begins to run when plaintiff becomes aware of the injury or disease.

Edwards, Barnes and Sutherland rely upon rules of statutory construction that directly support Defendants' argument that the statute begins to run when plaintiff becomes aware of the injury or disease. The Edwards Court compared the language chosen by the legislature for Section 15-1-49 to that used in the medical malpractice statute of limitations - Miss. Code. Ann. § 15-1-36. The Court noted that the medical malpractice statute of limitations not only requires knowledge of the injury, but also knowledge of the "act, omission or neglect" that caused the injury (i.e., knowledge of the causative relationship). In contrast, the Court noted that the unambiguous language of Section 15-1-49 contains no provision requiring knowledge of the "cause of the injury" or the "causative relationship" between the injury and the "injurious act."

Implicit in this Court's decision in *Edwards* was the fact that the language chosen by the legislature for the medical malpractice statute, compared to the

³ See also Schiro v. Am. Tobacco Co., 611 So.2d 962, 965 (Miss. 1992) (relying on Edwards to determine plaintiff's cause of action accrued when she learned of her cancer diagnosis, not the date of knowledge of the disease's cause); Wilbanks v. A.H. Robins Co., Inc., No. 98-60393, 1999 WL 800019, at *1 (5th Cir. Sept. 15, 1999) (relying on Edwards to expressly reject plaintiff's argument that limitations did not begin to run until she knew that her injuries were illegally caused by the defendant's product, and holding that "[s]he need only know of the injury itself."); Pounds v. Rogersol, Inc., No. 3:07-cv-554-WHB-LRA, 2009 WL 607429, at *5 (S.D. Miss. March 5, 2009) (relying on Edwards to hold that plaintiff's claims accrued when decedent first had knowledge of her injury, and expressly rejecting plaintiff's claims that the statute of limitations was tolled until the wrongful cause of the injury was determined).

language chosen for the general statute of limitations applicable to the present case, is key to understanding the legislature's intent. The adoption of the medical malpractice statute in 1976 demonstrated that the legislature knew how to draft a statute requiring knowledge of the "act, omission or neglect" before the commencement of the statue of limitation. See Arant v. Hubbard, 824 So. 2d 661, 615 (Miss. 2002) (stating that it is presumed "the legislature, when it passes a statute, knows the existing laws.") By omitting similar language when it later adopted the discovery rule applicable to the present case, the legislature's different intent is manifested by the omission of the language requiring knowledge as to the cause or causation relationship. See City of Natchez v. Sullivan, 612 So. 2d 1087, 1089 (Miss. 1992) (holding that "the omission of language from a similar provision on a similar subject indicates that the legislature had a different intent in enacting the provisions, which it manifested by the omission of the language.") Such is the distinction recognized in Edwards.

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